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Plate 1 West purifier, Canon’s Marsh Gasworks,August 1970 BB70/7270 Gown copyright NMR

Plate 2 Retort house (south-east block), Canos’Marsh Gasworks,August 1970

BB70/7275 Cown copyright NMR
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Canon’s Marsh GasWorks, Bristol

Development, Recording and\r chaeologicalAssessment

Richard Croft pretation of the standing structures.detailed
history of gasmaking in Bristol and the owner
RemedX Ltd was retained by Lattice Propertghip history of the Canos’MarshWorks is not
(formerly British Gas plc Property Division) toincluded, having already been addressed by the
undertake recording of the standing buildings argburces used in this stydyuoted beloyk 2 3 A
conduct an initial archaeological assessment @bpy of the final report has been deposited with
the Canors Marsh gasworks site (Fig 2) as part ofhe City Archaeologist, Bob Jones, as part of the
the regeneration of the ‘harbourside’ area in centrairban Archaeological Database (BUAD 3339).

Bristol. Some notes on the site were published in )
BIAS Journal 26 (1993). Outline of the History of Gas Manufacture at

L . _ . Canon’s Marsh
The following is mainly taken from the interim

report, July 1998, prepared in agreement with tnehe Bristol and Clifton Oil Gas Company was
City Archaeologist for planning purposéghe full formed byAct of Parliament in 1823 and the com-
report contains no changes to these findings, bp@ny secured premises at HipskeyBarton in
provides a much greater depth of interpretatioh824, adjacent to the Limekiln Lane glasshouse
of the development of the site, its manufacturingn Canors Marsh. Oil gas could be manufactured
methods and equipment, and includes a discugom any organic oil, but it was generally whale
sion on the archaeological recording and intepils or spermaceti that were used@he oil gas

Fig.1 GasWorks in 1884
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works operated in competition with the Bristol Gasion of land during successive expansions, as
Light Company formed in 1816, which manu- shown in Fig 2.

factured gas from coal.
g Phase 1 (1824-1836) The Oil Gas Works

In 1836 the Bristol and Clifton Oil Gas CompanyLittle is known of the activities of the Bristol and
was granted permission by Parliament to begidlifton Oil Gas Company or the equipment it em-
manufacturing gas from coal, after it became umloyed. The early evidence for the layout of the
economic to make gas from oilhe company works is from maps of Bristol dating from the 1820s
changed its name to remove the reference to @ihd a general understanding of the method of mak-
gas and eventually amalgamated with its competrg gas from oiP.” A retort house, gasometer house
tor to form the Bristol United Gas Company inand three ranges of outbuildings were associated
1853.The works at Canos’Marsh were expandedwith these worksThe retort house was distinctive
in several stages. By the 1880s the works occuith a buttressed front elevatioffthe gasometer
pied much of the current sit@he final expan- house was even more distinctjdeeing circular
sion, in the first half of the 20th centurnyas to with a domed roofThe gasometer house contained
the east and the works continued manufacturirg gasholder whose tank may have been above, be-
gas until the 1950s or 1960s. By 1970 the workew or partly below-groundgasholderA’). The
were derelict and by 1972 the buildings had bedlor level of the retort house was elevated above
demolished to their present size. the general ground levedJthoughprobably only

. by about one metre.
The Development of the GasVorks at the site

Phase 2 -The Oil GasWorks Converted to Coal
The gas manufacturing works at CaroMarsh GasWorks (1836-1841)
developed over a period of 150 yeaFhe history The coal gas works occupied the same site as the
of gas manufacture at the site reflects the technigll gas works and the same buildings were used,
and social changes within British indust&mall-  \ith some modificationsThe retort house contin-
scale, labouintensive, indfcient and environmen- yed in use, with the replacement of the oil retorts
tally-damaging practices were gradually supersedg@d their settings with those for coAl.coal store
by increasingly dicient equipment and methods.was added and lime purifiers installed in a range
thought to already exist at this time, now called the
The stages of the site development have been ggrifying house A condenser was installed and a
signed phases for purposes of description and agr and liquor tank either installed or adapted from
sessmentThese phases are related to the acquishe oil gas proceshis tar and liquor tank was of
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Fig. 2 Existing site, 1998, showing land acquisitions and standing structes
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iron construction and was located within the retoftame surrounding it which supported guide rails
house at, or beneath, the floor levelsecond gas- for rollers fixed to the top of the gasholder super
holder (gasholder ‘B’) was in existence during thistructure.The new strip of land, known as the ‘New
phase, but it is not known if it dated from the late¥ard’, was raised in level by the spreading of fill
years of oil gas production (Phase 1). It is believedaterials.The poor compaction of this material
that gasholder ‘Bhad a below-ground tank (orcaused the collapse of the new boundary wall soon
possibly partly below-ground), with the holder suafter its completioA.
perstructure being counterbalanced with weights
from a surrounding frame. The management of the company sought outside
advice to improve their works and a series of four
This phase was generally a period where the gasports were prepared during 1843 and 1844 by
works was poorly managed on a shoestring budg®¥illiam Herapath, a Bristol chemist and, Gger
As the conversion to coal gas production walsowe, the engineer of the London-based Char
forced upon the Company due to the escalatingred Gas CompanyIn response to these reports,
price of oil, it appears that the adoption of a differdramatic improvements were made in terms of ef-
ent manufacturing process was undertaken Wigiency and, as a result, the conditions of those
adapting what was at hand as much as possibleho worked thereThe number of retorts in op-
Understanding of the new process seemed ladckration was not substantially increased, but their
ing, as basic design faults in the retort settings weeffectiveness and flexibility of operation were.
only discovered after nine years of operatidhe
employeesworking conditions were appallirfg. These improvements, steadily undertaken through
the mid-1840sjncluded a newlarge, under
Phase 3 - Expansion to the East (1841-1848) ground tar and liquor tank constructed of masonry
The 1840s saw the works undera dramatic pe- covered with masonry archeslso a much lager
riod of rationalisation, modernisation and steadgoal store was built on the ‘new’ land behind the
expansionThe old oil gas works site was too smaltetort house, allowing all coal to be kept dry and
to allow any further development of the gas workdrought directly into the retort hous€ghis struc-
A strip of land, formerly a rope walk, was acquiredure too began to subside within two months of
in 1841.Almost immediately a third gasholder (gaseompletion, due either to poor compaction of the
holder ‘C’) was constructed with a brick-linedfill used to raise the site level, or poor founda-
masonry undground tank.The gasholder had ations. A new landing place was constructed on
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the wharf adjacent to the ‘NeXard’ for unload- This retort house was then extended to the south to
ing coal directly into the new coal store, and thaccommodate an additional bench of retort settings.
weighbridge relocated to the ‘NeMWard’. Gas- Gasholder ‘C’ was also demolished and the ma-
holder ‘B’ was demolished and replaced with @onry undeground tank roofed over with brick
new telescopic gasholder (gasholder ‘D’) with arches to form a new underground tar and liquor
below-ground cast iron tanldn exhauster and tank. The new purifier capacity in th@/est Puri-
steam engine to power it were installed in a nefier House on the BrandosWharf site replaced
building and new governors were installed to corthe purifier capacity in the old purifier house in
trol the gas distribution pressures. New lime puriase sincéPhase 2. This old purifier house was de-
fiers and a Crols patented purifier were installedmolished and became the site of two new scrub-
in the purifier house. bers and new condenser

Towards the end of this phase a second retort housso built, adjacent to the west side of théiaafs,
was built to the north of the new coal store, withvas a new stores building and laboratory
the addition of a chimneyThis increased the
number of retorts available at the works. Phase 6 - Expansion Eastwards and Extensive
Remodelling of theWorks (1870-1949)
Phase 4 - Further Expansion to the East and an Finally, the timber yard adjacent to the eastern
Increase in Retorts (1848-1860) boundary of the works, known as Germasnetas
A further acre of land was acquired adjacent to thgrchased in 1870Nork commenced almost im-
east boundary of the work@vithin two years of mediately on a new Retort House (still existing in
acquiring this land, during which time its level wag 998), to prepare for the winter demand for gas.
probably raised, development began. Nefice$ The remodelled works that took shape early in this
were designed and constructed facing the Floatipghase included; a new gasholder (Gasholder ‘G,
Harbour extended later towards the end of thistjl| existing in 1998 with replaced superstructure)
phase after the Bristol United Gas Company wag the north-east corner of the site; a new coal store
formed in 1853. Gasholder ‘E’ was constructed ifstill partly extant in 1998) adjacent to the new re-
the north of this new land, with a below-groundort house; and a new purifier building (the East
tank, and a washer and three scrubbers installpgrifier House still extant in 1998Yhis purifier
for the removal of ammonia prior to passing thguilding was designed and built in two stages. In
gas through the lime purifiers. the first stage, it was L-shaped and built on the site
_ _ of the Phase 1 retort house and over the site of the
A new engine house with new exhausters was al§,, qemolishe®hase 3 second retort house, ad-
installed, and the old gasometer house convertghing the then still standing Phase 5 retort house.
into a purifier house with four additional lime pu-rn. second stage was completed in 1886, once
rifiers. The coal store built ifPhase 3 was con- 14 phase 5 retort house had been demolishad.
verted to a retort house, and a new coal storé CQlyitional three scrubbers, larger than the previ-
structed on the newly acquired land, south of gagyg stryctures, were added in the 1870s and the

holder °E". completion of the East Purifier House added a fur

Phase 5 - Expansion to thaVest (1860-1870) ther three lime purifiers to the works.

By 1860 the works had expanded to fill the avail-

able space and Brandethart site was acqured. | (U 10 2R P8 D €8 TRC S S
Another gasholder (Gasholder ‘F’, still existing in . -
ast with the acquisition of land for the storage of

1998 with replaced superstructure), a large pur‘ia- : : o
fier house (theNest Purifier House, still existing CO&:L,T»[EE; n;:r':esggc,fﬁgise?ﬁcggé Itr;z%l(t:re]zei:nfSI&lgviEh
in 1998) and an Engine and Exhauster House (Svme '

existing in 1998) were constructed on this site b) E 3xget)vsonno;‘hgaigglgler nEd i’;ggh vl\f[ais demoiL-I
1864. This new gasholder capacity replaced th ed between the sa s LIS possible

of gasholder ‘D’, which was demolished, and thé at this was the gasholder destroyed by enemy
tank void was fil’led in ' action in 1941, and was not rebuilt.

During this phase the old retort house and gasofmurther additions to the gasmaking process were
eter house (both frorRhase 1) were demolished, Made during the twentieth centuipcluding the
leaving thePhase 3 coal store (latePhase 4 retort installation of a carburetted water gas plant, with
house) as a single structure running north-soutlS OWn tar separators condensers and gasholder
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(Gasholder ‘H").Two laige above ground fuel tanksThe chronology of the standing structures is shown
to hold feedstock oil and another underground tam Fig 2.
and ammoniacal liquor tank were constructed.

_ _ Phases 1 and 2
Other equipment brought into use at the works Wer¢he earliest surviving walling is on the south-east
a concentrated liquor plant (for treating the ammgsige of Gas Ferry Road extending a short way
niacal liquor), a benzole plant (for extracting hyround the corner onto the dockside. Both ends of
drocarbon fuels from tar), naphthalene washers,;g& wall finish in rubble quoins, against which
Telpher overhead rail system (for coke and coier walling is buttedThe north end is particu-
transport) and a new jetty for the unloading of coghly clear internallyand the faced-bfeturn wall
from the Floating HarbouiThe documented dates.gn pe seeriThe top of the wall has been height-
for the development of the works are listeglow o eq along its whole length at a later peribe
dimensions of this wall correspond with those of
the building used as a purifier on a plan of 1857,

The above analysis of the development of the ga&0d the development plan of 1868 shows this
works differs from that previously assesseBur- Plock unaltered from 1836. It is possible that it
ther information has since been gathered that hdgtes back to 1823.

allowed a detailed assessment of how the Woth

Reassessment of the Development of the Site

ase 3

Two lengths of wall appear to belong to this phase,
both within the boundaries of the original site. In

Gas Ferry Road this comprises the length of wall
?unning north from the butt joint at the corner of

Yhe Phase 1 building to a point at the turn of the

) . lane where a break in the build indicates a later
Brandons Wharf, was not acquired until reconstructionThere is a second length on the

. #ﬁgg; no evidence for the second dome (gasouth (dock) side, detached from the south east
. : 1 buildi infill -
ometer building) to the south of the O”gmaﬁorner of thePhase 1 building by an infilled gate

way, and truncated to the east byPhase 5 wall.
Phase 1 retort house except that shown o Y P

e L Yhis wall includes a quantity of brick and is of a
Dor;nesdn;)ap of 18t26' Ifllt did el)('stt’ I hbadlt%e;gdifferent construction to the first section. It may
replaced by a rectangular coal store by ._be the ‘front’ boundary wall rebuilt in 1841 after
e The 1845 telescopic gasholder construction
. .. settlement.
(gasholder ‘C’) was not on the glasshouse site,

but on thePhase 1 and 2 site, in place of a phase 4

previous gasholder (gasholder ‘B). Surviving from this phase is the facade of the of-
 The pennant stone perimeter wall west of Gafes of 1851-2, incorporated in the south bound-

Ferry Road dates from after 1864, rather thagry wall. This is in the style of an Italianate villa,

after 1845% faced in limestone ashlar; it has been reduced to a
gingle storey and the portico removed. Photo-

developed.The main changes in the understan
ing of the development of the site are:

* The first major expansion of the works was t
the eastnot to the west (the site of the glas
house). Brandos’'Yard, formerly known as

;I;]he‘GIan;jlnqlpIa:jge C?nStruﬁﬁd N dlS;lé(‘;waE no raphs in the NMR (front, side and rear views)
€ ®asterrylanding place at the end ot ©as FeItg sw this building when it was still standing in

Road, but was located further to the east and Wﬁﬁgust 1970. Further views taken in July 1972
used for unloading coal duringhase 3 of the show it reduc.ed to its present size

works 16

Phase 5
In this phase the works were extended west of Gas

Kirsty Rodwell examined, interpreted and reFerry Road. Surviving structures include an en-
corded the standing wall on the gasworks site. SB&1€ house, the gas holder of 1862, and a purifier
presents the following sequence of developmertf 1863.A NMR photo of 1972 records the
described in relation to the overall site phasingooden roof structure of this buildinghe bound-
derived from the documentary sources. Knowlary wall appears to have been rebuilt at the same
edge of the standing structures is augmented byigpe: a plan dated 1864 shows proposals for al-
series of some 30 photographs in the Nationﬁrations to the north-east Cornand the wall is
Monuments Record taken in 1970 and 197®f a unified constructiof It includes a raised
which show several buildings prior to demolitionsection intended to support an overhead gaspipe.

The Standing Buildings in Sequence
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A corresponding support forms part of a generaiving buildings on the new land include the re-

heightening of the earlier wall on the opposite sid®rt house and coal store, both now reduced to a

of the lane. single storeyIn 1970 these stood to their full
height of three storeys, although they were already

On the main part of the site, stores and a new gateofless (NMR).The south boundary wall and

way constructed west of thefioks survive as part gateway to this extension are extant, and there are

of the south boundary wall.he stores have beendesign drawings dated 187L.

reduced to a single storey; a NMR photo of 1970 _ N

shows the building standing to its full heiglihe ©On the older part of the site a new purifier was

original gate close to the south-west corner wonstructed over earlier building$he central

reduced in size. spine wall is on the line of the 1836 eastern plot
boundary but does not appear to incorporate any
Phase 6 earlier fabric as its construction techniques are the

After 1870 the site was extended eastwards. Swame as those used elsewhere in the building.

GASHOLDER
WELL

GASHOLDER 'C',
CONVERTED TO

Fig. 4 Possible below gound survivals of structures
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Although architecturally this building has a unifiedhe site. It has been assumed that where building
exterior, it is known to have been constructed ifioundations and gas main laying has occurred, any
two stages, for the 1884 OS plan shows it as Ipreviously surviving trace of former structures
shaped in plan and built against an earlier retdoelow-ground has been destroyed.
house.The building was completed in 1886 and
the spine wall was probably rebuilt at this date.Where soil disturbances are not shown, there is a
chance of below-ground survival of former equip-
All the buildings of this period are built in thement bases and wall footings. From this analysis
same massive style of coursed, squared pennéim¢ potential below-ground survival is shown in
rubble with rock-faced dressings. Minor works td-ig 4. The potential survival represented is a ‘best
the existing boundary walls include the blockingase’, as only the known soil disturbances have
of the gate close to the south-west corner and theen used in the analysis. It is likely that other
realigning of the east wall of Gas Ferry Road afoil disturbance has taken place which have caused
the north end. further destruction of below-ground remaifite
potential below-ground survivals are:
Survival of Gasworks Sructur es below

Ground Phase 1

The East Purifier Building and its associated gas

An assessment of the likely survival of the earligh@ins are likely to have caused widespread de-
phases of the gas manufacturing structures belo@ffuction of the main buildings of ttehase 1 oil
ground has been made in the areas of the word@S works.There is likely to be little, or none, of
occupied up to and includinghase 3 by consid- the gasometer house remaining. Part of the front
ering the likely soil disturbances at the works-duf@¢ade of the oil gas retort house and the base of
ing the last phase of operation (1870-1999)he its chimney may survive within the East Purifier
main causes of soil disturbance are; laying d3uilding.

building foundations; laying of gas mains an¢,gments of the range of buildings occupying

other cables/pipework and drainage; laying ghe north of thePhase 1 site may survive, partly
equipment foundations; and construction of UNseneath Gas Ferry Road.

derground structures.

Phase 2
Where there is stitient evidence that these ac-The Phase 2 purifier house inner wall (which may
tivities have occurred on the site, their locationbelong toPhase 1) may partly survive at its south-
were plotted over a scaled base plan showing a&litin end. Fragments of thhase 2 coal store may
the known historical structures and equipment also survive, although gas main trenching and the

CWVEN DANIELLS QIL CONDENSED LLSCOMBE'S RETOHTS
STOMING GAS RETORT DIL TANK FOR QIL FREPARATION
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= 4. - v 1
i B 2 OO
s e
s 2 B
- e I'“'"'II
6 o
i e Y
{8 e -
e & B
L ] _Ili_\. la-"hll
" R | A
OVERHEALD OIL P
AEEZERVCHR CHIMMEY

TANE

Fig. 5 Reconstruction of the oil gas retort house ¢1829
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concentrated liquor plant are likely to have distact, although the upper part is likely to have been
rupted this area. removed when the gasholder was dismantled and
the tank filled in during the 1940s or 1950%e
The tank of gasholder ‘Bivas probably removed material used for the tank construction is not
during the later construction of Gasholder ‘D’. known, but could have been cast iron or masonry

Phase 3 It is possible that the remains of outbuildings along

The coal store of 1844 and the extension to thike inside of the boundary wall within the ‘Ofdrd’

north of it, which was used as a second retomay survive.These buildings housed the station

house, are likely to have been disturbed by thmeter and workshops.

East Purifier House foundations and the pipework

servicing the purifiers. Fragments of the eastefdhase 5

wall of the coal store may survive below-groundThe main structures associated with this phase ei-

The underground brick lined masonry tank of gagher still survive, or were demolished (with floor

holder ‘C’, constructed in 1841, is likely to stillslab removal) during the 1970s.

exist in part as it was modified for use as a tar and

liquor tank in 1862. The underground structure surviving is the tar and
liquor well that was formed by covering the tank of

It is possible that the underground tank of gagrasholder ‘C’ with a brick arched roof. It is likely

holder ‘D’ was constructed of cast iron (as recthat the walls of the gasholder still survive and that

ommended by Gege Lowe in his report). It is the brick arched roof has been broken to allow the

likely that this gasholder tank still exists, althougfilling of the tank void with rubbleThere is how-

the upper sections of it may have been salvagedeifer the possibility that the arched roof is intact or

it were made of cast irofhis gasholder was dis- partly intact.

mantled and the tank filled in duringhase 5.

During dismantling the water from within theThe Phase 5 scrubbers and condensbuilt on the

holder was likely to have been pumped awayt site of the oldPhase 2 purifier house, are likely to

the sludge which accumulates within gasholddrave had lgge foundations. It is likely that these

tanks, is likely to have been left in placghis foundations are still present below-groufthe

sludge usually contains organic compounds irplacing of these foundations is likely to have re-

cluding polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. sulted in the removal of any traces of the earlier
purifiers in this area. It is possible that some trace

The 1843 tar and liquor tank, constructed oaof the earlier purifier foundations exist in the south-

Herepaths recommendation, is likely to surviveern part of thePhase 2 purifier house, although

in part. When abandoning such tanks it was usuilese are likely to be fragmentary

to pump out the tar using the installed punigss

would leave the tar below the pump inlet, whictPhase 6

could be in the order of 0.5 metre in depitne Below-ground survivals of structures and equip-

arched roof would then be demolished and thment from this phase of the site development are

tank would then be filled with building debris. Iflikely to be restricted to foundation slabs and un-

this procedure was followed, then the tar tank wallderground storage tanks. In the area that this re-

are likely to be intact, containing a mixture of taport has concentrated on (the area occupied by

and rubble. the works up to 1859%hase 6 saw the construc-
tion of five gas purifying plants and associated
Phase 4 equipment:

The below-ground remains of the companpf-

fices are likely to be restricted to foundatiombe To the south of the East Purifier House, con-

offices were demolished in the early 1970s and structed during this phase, a large area was occu-

appears from visual inspection that the demolpied by a “BstWorks’ later converted into a con-

tion included the removal of all floor slabBhe centrated liquor plant for the treatment of ammo-

southern facade of the fafe building survives niacal liquor into a saleable produ@his plant is

above ground as part of the site boundary walllikely to have had substantial concrete founda-
tions, resulting in the disturbance of the southern

The below-ground tank of gasholder ‘E’, conend of thePhase 5 retort house.

structed in 1852, is likely to survive mostly in-
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To the south-east of the East Purifier House, tweduced the likelihood of remains of earlier struc-
new scrubbers and washers were constructades surviving intactWhere survivals do occur
(early 1880s).The two scrubber towers would havethey are likely to be fragmentary
had massive foundations, which probably survive.
To the north of the compargy/ofices, two lage Contents of Backfilled Tar Tanks and Gas-
above-ground fuel oil storage tanks were corholder Tanks
structed.The concrete pad foundations of these
are likely to have resulted in the destruction ofhe development of the works has resulted in a
the southern half of thPhase 4 coal store. Im- number of voids from abandoned underground
mediately to the north of these tanks, the Electrianks being filled in. It is not known when the tar
cal Power House (which still stands) was conand liquor wells were abandoned, or even if they
structed alongside new tar separating pldiis have been filled, but an estimate can be made as
is likely to have removed any remains of théo when gasholder tanks were filled ifhe loca-
northern half of thePhase 4 coal store. tions of the gasholder tanks are shown in Fig 3.

These tanks were Ige voids and required a con-
Naphthalene washers were installed in the nortsiderable amount of material to fill therThe fill-
west corner of the site, in the area of Ri@se 2 ing operation presented a great opportunity to the
dwelling houseThe pad foundations of this equip-works managers to dispose of their waste materi-
ment are likely to still exist. als. This waste was likely to be:

Foul lime

A new below-ground tar and liquor tank was also gpent oxide
constructed to the south of the 1880s scrubbers. 15, sludge
This tank is likely to exist in a similar condition to
the others described above, without a roof anthe deposits within these gasholder tanks can thus
filled with demolition rubble and tar represent an archaeological resource that is clearly

o _ dateableThe fill materials within the tank of gas-
From the above analysis, it is evident that the sife) 4or ‘D' could ofer an in-sight into the works
was used intensively over its entire lifetime. EqUipﬁrior to Phase 5.

ment and buildings were demolished and new ones

constructed in their place due to the limited spacene following is a schedule of the filled gasholder
available.This has resulted in repeated disturtanks likely to be surviving at the site and their
bances of the subsurface, which has generalijate of filling:

Gasholder | Date of Date of Tank Filing | Comments

Reference [ Construction

‘A’ 1824 1850s It is not known whether this tanksa@elow-ground, partly
below-ground, or above ground.

‘C 1841 Unknown This gasholder tank was convetted tar and liquor tank. |
could have been in use into the 1950s.

‘D’ 1844 1860s

‘E’ 1852 Probably 1940-50

‘H’ Probably 1911 Probably 1960s

Documented dates for the development of the works

Phase Date Documented Event
Jun 1823 The Bristol and Clifton Oil Gas Compaoyrfed.
1 Jan 1824 Hipsleys Barton site acquired.
2 Apr 1836 Permission to make gas from coal.
May 836 Lease of land by the Dean and Chapter.
Mar 1837 Land acquired from John Nicholas and y&aylor.
3 Jun 1841 Land acquired from Sidenham Teast.
Aug 1841 New length of boundary wall constructeaew land, 100 feet long including a new gate.
Aug-Oct 1841 Construction of gasholder C, on reawd lacquired.
Sep 1841 Number of retorts had been increased.
Oct 1841 Rebuilding of the ‘front’ boundary wallelto settlement of the new made ground.
Rebuilding and facing with brick, of the new gasteol tank wall (due to collapse during
construction). Also excavation and puddling (plgogi clay) around the ‘old tank’ (gasholder B)
where it leaked adjacent to the ‘old wall’ agathst Rope Walk.
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Phase Date Documented Event

Apr 1843 Herapath's first report.

Apr-Jul 1843 New tar tank constructed (Herapatbmemended the location to be in the yard).

Jul 1843 Settlement in the retort house roof. ‘€nhd walls behind the chimney’ were raised to #hwel of
the ridge.

Leak of tar to the Floating Harbour - blamed on ‘eldmmon sewer’ that ran ‘through the yaid,
beneath the retort house and old gasometer hdRsfuse lime’ (foul lime) was accumulating in
the yard and stank.

Feb 1844 Herapath’s second report recommended:

Extension of the retort house to the south, ovistiey condenser site. (Implying no extension had
recently occurred).

Lowering the level of the retorts in the ‘firstodthouse’ to the level of the proposed retort kous

All retort beds should run ‘across the building’.

The original tar tank in the retort to be removed ased as a bath for the condenser (implying |this
tank is of iron construction and above ground eftee moveable and accessible).

A new coal store be built ‘on the new land’ wititrances made through the existing retort house
wall.

Mar 1844 Lowe’s first report.

Yard described as wretched. The yard being chokedith coke breeze. Coal and coke was yvet
when used.
Urgent need for a new coal store as the existirgoma tenth the size needed.

Apr 1844 Plans drawn up for a new coal store 6f-80000 tons capacity.

May 1844 Lowe’s second report.

The retort house considered as one entity by pizrte43 iron retorts in operation (each a York D
cast iron retort of 20" width, set 5 to a fire wihotal setting width of 5.5 feet). Settings wgoer.
In discussing retorts, ‘No. 1 house’ is mentiorn®al/{ng three ovens of 15 retorts).

Apr 1844 In response to Lowe’s report the irortaak in the Retort House is removed and usedrto fimn
stoking floors. An excavation within the Retort elis begun to construct a coke cellar. Two new
governors are purchased with pressure recorderteltale recorders for the station meter.

Jun-Jul 1844 Croll's patent purifier installed. Fhised sulphuric acid for removal of ammonia frbendas prior|
to the gas entering the lime purifiers.

An exhauster and a small steam engine to poweerie wurchased, with buildings being specially
constructed for them.
Water supply to the engine house is now taken flanfrloating Harbour by installation of a pipe.

Aug 1844 New coal store built. The ‘New Yard’ pdweith pitch and the weighbridge moved to the new
entrance between the coal store and the wharf.

Sep 1844 Landing place built on the floating harbblot the Gas Ferry.

Oct 1844 Clay retorts set along with iron retd@iisly retorts shatter during use.

Nov 1844 New coal store subsides on one cornairiieg remedial building work.

1845 Gasholder D (65.5 ft dia.) being built in place of gasholder B, which was demolished. The new
gasholder was designed by George Lowe and wasdgiesn construction.

4 Nov 1848 Land acquired from Sidenham Teast @) acr
1851-1852 Construction of the new offices.
1852 Construction of gasholder E (110 feet dia.)
1853 Bristol United Gas Company formed.
1854 New engine house built.
1857 Four new purifiers in the ‘old gasometerding'.
1856 Office Extensions.
5 1860 Brandon Wharf (Brandon'’s Yard) leased.

1862 Construction of gasholder F (112 ft. diaBiandon’s Yard.

1863 Construction of a new purifier house (Westfiedrin Brandon'’s Yard.
6 1870 Acquisition of land to the east (Germaite'sl).

1870 Construction of new retort house on the Gergmgiand.

1871 Large stretch of southern boundary wall caotd.

Aug 1876 Two new tower scrubbers constructed.

1886 The 1844 coal store (later retort house) tiehenl and the East Purifier extended to its ctisize.
New tower scrubber constructed 18 ft. dia. and.3tidgh.

1911 Carburetted water gas plant installed.

1929 Installation of the Telpher overhead raitetysfor moving coal from the new jetty to the cstalres.

1932 Gasholder F (Brandon’s Yard) superstruckptaced.

1940-1941 Extensive damage to the offices by bogbi
Gasholder destroyed by bombing.
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Plate 3View of offices with upper storey intact, August 1970 BB70/7267 Gawn copyright NMR
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Plate 4 The laboratory with upper storey still intact, August 1970 BB70/7257 Gawn copyright NMR
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Conclusions

The standing buildings at the Can®marsh site

are from the later phases of site developmeny.
There is some standing survival of structures fronp.
earlier phases within the site boundary wall. Untl.
derground survivals are likely to be limited to frag?2-
ments of earlier structures and underground gas-

holder tanks and tar and liquor tanks.
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